## Nitrogen Enrichment of a Boreal Forest

Implications for Understory Vegetation

## Åsa Forsum

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology Umeå

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2008:45

Cover photo: Å. Forsum

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-85913-78-7 © 2008 Åsa Forsum, Umeå Tryck: Arkitektkopia, Umeå, Sweden 2008

#### Nitrogen Enrichment of a Boreal Forest

Implications for Understory Vegetation

The aim of this thesis was to investigate how nitrogen (N) enrichment influences ecophysiological processes involved in driving changes in understory species composition in Swedish boreal forests. Studies were performed in a long-term N experiment started in 1996 including the following treatments: control, N additions (12.5 and 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) and recovery (50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for five years and then no N addition). Firstly, I studied plant-available N forms deposited with throughfall precipitation, and estimated uptake by mosses and lichens of this N. Regardless of the N treatments, rainwater contributed c. 2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> and snowmelt c. 0.3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> to the vegetation. The ground-living bryophyte *Hylocomium splendens* and the epiphytic lichen *Platismatia glauca* took up both organic (glycine) and inorganic (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) N from the precipitation. The uptake did not significantly differ between the N treatment plots. On the 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> plots the abundance of *H. splendens* decreased by 81% following eight years of N additions. The ecophysiological response of H. splendens to this N treatment included accumulation of arginine, but no significant changes in its soluble carbohydrate or chlorophyll contents were detected. Secondly, I studied N competition between Vaccinium myrtillus and Deschampsia flexuosa. I found no significant effects of the long-term N treatments on plant uptake of four different N forms  $(NH_4^+, NO_3^-,$ glycine and peptides). Both plants acquired N from  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$  and glycine, but no substantial uptake from peptides was found. When N uptake of the two species was related to the plant biomass, D. flexuosa acquired all N forms more efficiently than V. myrtillus, but the difference between the species in this respect was greatest for  $NO_3$ . Finally, results of long-term (12 years) monitoring of the understory vegetation on control, 12.5 and 50.0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> plots demonstrated that two natural enemies (the fungal pathogen Valdensia heterodoxa and the herbivorous larval form of *Operophtera* spp.) exerted strong control over the abundance of the dominant plant, V. myrtillus. The study highlights the need for long-term studies to fully capture biotic interactions that influence vegetation dynamics. In summary, changes in N supply may have profound effects on quantitative and qualitative aspects of plant N availability, plant N uptake, plant biochemistry as well as interactions between plants and their natural enemies

*Keywords:* Amino acids, Boreal forest, *Deschampsia flexuosa*, *Hylocomium splendens*, Natural enemies, Nitrogen, Resource partitioning, Soluble carbohydrates, Throughfall precipitation, *Vaccinium myrtillus*.

*Author's address:* Åsa Forsum, Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. 901 83 Umeå, Sweden. *E-mail:* Asa.Forsum@genfys.slu.se Till Mista I & II

I'd rather go skiing...

## Contents

List	of Publications	9
1	Introduction	11
1.1	The natural limitation of N	11
1.2	Human alteration of the global N cycle	12
1.3	Nitrogen enrichment of boreal forests	13
2	Objectives	17
3	Material and Methods	19
3.1	The experimental site	19
3.2	The study species	20
3.3	Monitoring of species abundances	21
3.4	Monitoring of N in throughfall precipitation	21
3.5	Measuring soil N	22
3.6	Measuring plant N uptake	23
3.7	Chemical analyses	24
4	Results and Discussion	27
4.1	Plant-available N forms in an N enriched boreal	
	ecosystem	27
	4.1.1 In rain	27
	4.1.2 In snowmelt	29
	4.1.3 In soil	29
4.2	Plant responses to N enrichment	32
	4.2.1 Cryptogam uptake of troughfall	
	precipitation N	32
	4.2.2 Ecophysiology of H. splendens	33
	4.2.3 Nitrogen competition between	
	V. myrtillus and D. flexuosa	36
	4.2.4 Interactions between plants and	
	their natural enemies	37
	4.2.5 The understory species composition	
	after 12 years of N addition	37
5	Summary of major findings	41
6	Conclusion	43
/ 8	ruture cnallenges Acknowledgements	45 47
9	References	49

### List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work described in the following Papers, referred to by the corresponding Roman Numerals in the text:

- I Forsum Å., Dahlman L., Näsholm T. and Nordin A. (2006). Nitrogen utilization by *Hylocomium splendens* in a boreal forest fertilization experiment. *Functional Ecology* 20, 421-426.
- II Forsum Å., Laudon H. and Nordin A. (2008). Nitrogen uptake by *Hylocomium splendens* during snowmelt in a boreal forest. *ÉcoScience* 15, 315-319.
- III Forsum Å. and Nordin A. Nitrogen form preferences and competition between *Vaccinium myrtillus* and *Deschampsia flexuosa* in a nitrogen enriched boreal forest. (Manuscript).
- IV Nordin A., Strengbom J., Forsum Å. and Ericson L. Complex biotic interactions drive vegetation change in a nitrogen enriched boreal forest. (Submitted).

Papers I-II are reproduced with the kind permission of the publishers.

### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 The natural limitation of N

Nitrogen (N) is present in all living organisms and is a building block of proteins and DNA molecules, and hence essential for life. N is difficult for most living organisms to access, even though it is an abundant molecule on earth, since the largest pool of N is present in the atmosphere as inert  $N_2$ . This nonreactive pool of N is mainly available to vascular plants through free-living and symbiotic N<sub>2</sub>-fixing microbes (Marschner 1995), or through oxidation by oxygen or ozone in the presence of lightning or ultraviolet radiation. Conversion back to its gaseous form occurs through denitrification and the burning of biomass (Taiz & Ziegert 1998).

Plant growth in most terrestrial ecosystems is considered to be N-limited, despite that the ecosystems often contain vast amounts of N. The majority of this N is inaccessible to plants, being immobilized in structures such as plant litter, standing living plant biomass, and microbial biomass (Tamm 1991). This organically bound N becomes available to plants when organic compounds are mineralized into ammonium ( $NH_4^+$ ), which in turn can undergo nitrification to nitrate ( $NO_3^-$ ) by hetero- or auto-trophic nitrifying microorganisms (Taiz & Ziegert 1998). However, mineralization rates in boreal ecosystems are slow, due to low temperatures and acidic soils (Swift *et al.* 1979, Van Cleve & Alexander 1979), and consequently the availability of  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  is low (Tamm 1991). The previously prevailing assumption that  $NH_4^+$ and  $NO_3^-$  are the most important N forms available to plants has been revised in the last decade. An increasing number of studies have shown that organic N forms, primarily in the form of amino acids, are taken up by plants in boreal, (Näsholm *et al.* 1998,

Nordin *et al.* 2001, Persson & Näsholm 2001), arctic (Chapin *et al.* 1993, Kielland 1997, Nordin *et al.* 2004, Kielland *et al.* 2007), and alpine ecosystems (Raab *et al.* 1999, Lipson *et al.* 1999). It is now becoming widely accepted that amino acids contribute substantially to the N economy of boreal and arctic plants (Lipson & Näsholm 2001, Schimel & Bennett 2004).

### 1.2 Human alteration of the global N cycle

Inputs of biologically available N forms to the biosphere have increased substantially over the last century due to anthropogenic activities. Industrial fixation of N in the production of fertilizer for agricultural purposes, the cultivation of N<sub>2</sub>-fixing crops, and the combustion of fossil fuels have all increased inputs of biologically reactive N forms to the global N cycle (Vitousek et al. 2002). Compared to natural N<sub>2</sub> fixation, these human activities have more than doubled the inputs of reactive N to the global N cycle (Galloway et al. 2004). During such activities, N is lost to the atmosphere as nitric oxide and nitrogen dioxide (NO and NO<sub>2</sub> respectively, collectively termed NO<sub>x</sub>), ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), and nitrous oxide  $(N_2O)$ . NO<sub>x</sub> is created during the combustion of fossil fuels and emissions of NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O occur through the production and use of fertilizers, with farmyard manure being another important source of NH<sub>3</sub>. N lost to the atmosphere, can be transported long distances (particularly as NO<sub>x</sub>) before brought back to terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems via wet (precipitation in the form of rain and snow) and dry (windborne gaseous particles) deposition. This atmospheric transport and deposition results in a considerable re-distribution of biologically available N from emission "hotspots" (i.e. agricultural and densely populated regions) to remote regions with undisturbed ecosystems naturally adapted to very low N inputs.

The global N cycle is closely linked to the climate system and the global carbon (C) cycle (Vitousek *et al.* 1997). The highest global surface temperatures, since measurements began in the 1850s (IPCC 2007), have been recorded during eleven out of the last twelve years (1995-2006). There is consensus in the scientific community that the cause of the apparent temperature rise is anthropogenic release of so-called greenhouse gases (GHG). This change in climatic conditions is predicted to result in a 2-6 C° rise in the average global temperature by the end of the 21<sup>th</sup> century (IPCC 2007), which is expected to affect the global N and C cycles in numerous ways. For example, higher temperatures in boreal and arctic

ecosystems are likely to enhance soil mineralization rates, thus increasing the soil supply of inorganic N forms (Schmidt *et al.* 2002). Furthermore, N availability plays a crucial role in controlling key interactions of the global C cycle, and the amount of C fixed by plants is generally restricted by the N supply (Gruber & Galloway 2008). Today, increases in N availability due to N deposition are believed to be responsible for the increase in terrestrial C sequestration found worldwide (Magnani *et al.* 2007). Therefore, increasing N availability in N-limited ecosystems to increase C sequestration is sometimes considered as a method of mitigating climate change. Consequently, there is an urgent need for an understanding of the effects of N addition on the biogeochemical N cycle of terrestrial ecosystems, and its consequences for biodiversity.

### 1.3 Nitrogen enrichment of boreal forests

N inputs to boreal forests have increased over the last 50 years, due to atmospheric N deposition and commercial forest fertilization. In Sweden, atmospheric N deposition occurs across a gradient that ranges from 15 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> in the southwest, to 1-2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> in the far north (Fig. 1). Commercial forest fertilization is a silvicultural practice that started in the early 1960's and was extensively practiced for c. 30 years, with c. 200 000 ha fertilized each year during the mid 1970's (Fig. 2). Interest in commercial forest fertilization declined in the early 1990's, mainly due to the recognition of limited knowledge regarding the environmental sideeffects of the practice (Nohrstedt & Westling 1995). However, increasing demand for forestry products over recent years has resulted in renewed interest in forest fertilization, and in 2007 about 36 000 ha was fertilized in Sweden (Fig. 2). The most common fertilization procedure is to add 150 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> 10 – 15 years before the final forest harvest. However, there is growing interest in increasing the number of fertilizer applications during a rotation period, and also in fertilizing young forests (< 10 years old).



**Figure 1.** Atmospheric N deposition ( $NH_X$  and  $NO_x$ ) over Sweden in 2005 (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) (SMHI 2008)



Figure 2. Area of forest land subjected to commercial forest fertilization in Sweden during the years 1962-2006 (Skogsstyrelsen 2007)

The ecosystem structure and function of boreal forests have evolved under conditions of strict N limitation. Thus, the N-limited nature of boreal forests has favored N-preserving plant traits, such as slow growth rates and biomass turnover (Grime 1977, Chapin 1980). These strategies have been successful in low N-availability environments, but become disadvantageous if the N availability increases (Chapin 1980, Tamm 1991). In N-rich environments, plants with such traits are often replaced by nitrophilous species with faster growth rates (Tilman 1988). Instead of using additional N for growth, the slow-growing species accumulate N in their tissues and consequently achieve higher internal N concentrations (Chapin et al. 1986, Lähdesmäki et al. 1990, Näsholm & Ericsson 1990, Lipson et al. 1996, Nordin & Näsholm 1997). Besides the direct effect that increased N availability exerts on the inter-specific competitive balance, indirect effects include modification of the interactions between plants and the herbivores (Huntly 1991) or pests and parasites (Harper 1990, Strengbom et al. 2002, Mitchell 2003) that feed on them (i.e. natural enemies). A small increase in host plant quality may affect pathogenic fungal or herbivore populations (Crawley 1993, White 1993, Marschner 1995). N-induced vegetation change can therefore be mediated by increased attacks by natural enemies reducing the dominant species' leaf area and thereby increasing understory light availability for relatively fastgrowing competitive species (Aerts et al. 1990, Strengbom et al. 2002). However, several natural enemies often share the same host plant. Thus, in order to asses the effect on N addition on the vegetation the interaction between different natural enemies also needs to be understood.

## 2 Objectives

Overall, the studies presented in this thesis aimed to increase our understanding of the effects of N enrichment on ecophysiological processes that influence species composition of the understory vegetation in a Swedish spruce-dominated boreal forest.

### The specific questions addressed were:

- Which plant-available N forms are deposited with throughfall precipitation during the vegetation period and during snowmelt in an N-enriched ecosystem?
- Is N in throughfall precipitation used by ground-living forest bryophytes and epiphytic lichens?
- What is the ecophysiological response of the bryophyte *Hylocomium splendens* to increased N supply?
- Are species-specific N form preferences important for the competitive interaction between *Vaccinium myrtillus* and *Deschampsia flexuosa* subjected to increased N supply?
- Do biotic interactions drive vegetation dynamics in an N-enriched boreal forest and do they operate differently in the long-term than in the short-term?

### 3 Material and Methods

#### 3.1 The experimental site

The experiments presented in this thesis were performed within the Svartberget experimental forest (64°14'N, 19°46'E, 70 km NW of Umeå), northern Sweden, in the middle boreal zone (Ahti et al. 1968). The background deposition of atmospheric N in this region has been estimated to c. 3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Phil-Karlsson *et al.* 2003, I & II). The experimental site is a late successional Norway spruce (Picea abies L.) forest of Vaccinum Myrtillus type (Kalliola 1973). Hylocomium splendens (Hedw.) B.S.G. and Pleurozium schreberi (Brid.) Mitt. are the dominating bryophytes compromising 50 and 30% of the bottom layer moss mats, respectively. Other major bryophytes are Ptilium crista-castrénsis (Hedw.) De Not, Dicranum polysetum (Sw.) and Dicranum scoparium (Hedw.). The ericaceous dwarf shrub Vaccinum myrtillus L. dominates the understory vegetation, and other important species are V. vitis-idea L., Linnea borealis L. and Deschampsia flexuosa (L.) Trin.. Common treeliving lichens include Platismatia glauca (L.) W.L.Culb. & C.F.Culb. and Hypogymnia physodes (L.) Nyl..

An N addition experiment was set up in 1996, and square plots of 1000 and 5000 m<sup>2</sup> (only 1000 m<sup>2</sup> for control plots) were assigned to different N treatments: control (0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), low N addition (12.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) and high N addition (50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) in a randomized block design (n = 6 for each N treatment). Experimental N additions began in 1996 and were repeated each year by adding granulated NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> by hand at the onset of the growing season (late May or early June). In 2001 fertilized plots (sized 5000 m<sup>2</sup>) were split in halves, and the following years N was only added to

half of the original plots. The other halves were left without N addition, and are referred to as recovery plots in this thesis.

### 3.2 The study species

This thesis focuses on a few foundation plant species of boreal mesic spruce-dominated forests: V. myrtillus, D. flexuosa, H. splendens and P. glauca. V. myrtillus is an ericaceous dwarf-shrub with wide geographic distribution. A large number of organisms are associated with it (Niemelä et al. 1982). V. myrtillus may also serve as a model plant for many slowgrowing boreal species adapted to low N availability. The grass D. flexuosa can inhabit N poor ecosystems, but often responds positively to increased N availability, and may serve as a model plant for species favored by increased N supply. H. splendens is an abundant boreal forest bryophyte in mesic forests. Its importance for boreal ecosystem functioning was acknowledged by Tamm (1953) already in the 1950's. Of the forest mosses common in boreal coniferous forest, H. splendens has been identified as particularly sensitive to high N input (Hallingbäck 1992, Olsson & Kellner 2006, Pitcairn et al. 2006). Decreased H. splendens abundance following N fertilization has been observed long after (nearly 50 years) the termination of fertilizations (Strengbom et al. 2001). P. glauca is one of the most common lichens found on branches in full-grown and old-growth spruce forests.

Among the studied species there are also organisms that serve as natural enemies to the studied plants. Operophtera brumata L. and O. fagata Scharfenberg are two closely related polyphagous moths, which in Swedish boreal forests share the same biology. V. myrtillus is the main host plant for *Operophtera* spp. larvae in coniferous boreal forests. *Operophtera* spp. eggs hatch in late May or early June and the larvae feed until mid-July when they drop to the ground and form pupae. Adult moths start to emerge in mid-September. Wingless females are then located by the males, and after mating both female and males die and the species survive the winter as eggs. Outbreaks of *Operophtera* spp. larvae are common in many ecosystems. For instance, larval outbreaks have been reported to cause severe defoliation of V. myrtillus in British moorlands (Kerslake et al. 1996). Furthermore, larvae feeding on host plants with improved quality (e.g. fertilized V. myrtillus) grow better (Strengbom et al. 2005). Valdensia heterodoxa Peyronel is a pathogenic fungus commonly found on V. myrtillus. The fungus overwinters as sclerotia in the veins of V. myrtillus

leaves that are infected and shed during the summer (Norvell & Redhead 1994). The sclerotia produces ascospores in the following early summer, which then infects new *V. myrtillus* leaves. Conidia are produced on leaves during the summer and are visible as a brown spot disease. If severe, it may result in premature leaf loss and visible defoliation patches in the *V. myrtillus* cover (Strengbom *et al.* 2002). *Valdensia heterodoxa* occurs naturally in the boreal forest, and has been observed to increase in abundance after N additions and as a response to atmospheric N deposition (> 6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) (Nordin *et al.* 1998, Strengbom *et al.* 2002, 2003).

### 3.3 Monitoring of species abundances

Abundances of the different plant species (except of *P. glauca*) was scored in July each year (except for 2001) with the point intercept method (see Strengbom *et al.* 2002 for details). Nine randomly placed subplots (except for the first year of the experiment when there were only five) in each N treatment plot were scored with a frame sized 0.20 x 0.60 m with 30 random points. Data from the nine subplots were summarized within each N treatment plot before further analysis. *Operophtera* spp. larval density was scored the third week of June each year. This was done within five permanently marked circular 0.1 m<sup>2</sup> subplots in each of the 1000 m<sup>2</sup> N treatment plots. *Valdensia heterodoxa* disease incidence was scored on *V. myrtillus* leaves collected in late August each year. From each N treatment plot 500 *V. myrtillus* leaves were randomly collected, brought to the laboratory, dried and checked for disease symptoms.

# 3.4 Monitoring of N in throughfall precipitation

Throughfall precipitation in the form of rain was collected from each N treatment plot using two LDPE 1000-ml bottles, that were placed centrally on the plot c. 1 m above the ground. In order to minimize the risk of transformation of N forms in the samples by microbial activity an acid holding solution of HCl (17 mM) was used. The precipitation collectors were emptied after each major rain event. The pH of the solution increased as it was diluted with rainwater, but samples were always collected to the laboratory before the pH exceeded 3.0.

A test was performed to examine the effects of the acid holding solution on precipitation N forms. Separate solutions were used to test the preservative

effect of acid pH (<3) on inorganic (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), and organic N (a 20  $\mu$ M N mix of six amino acids). The solutions were stored at room temperature for 14 days. The results showed no significant changes in NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentrations after the storage (Table 3). In contrast, the concentration of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> decreased slightly, with 84% of the initial concentration remaining in the solution after 14 days (Table 3). Analyses of the amino acid solution revealed significant changes only in the concentration of glutamine, and 35% of the initial concentration remained after storage (Table 3).

**Table 1.** Percentages of N compounds (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, glutamine, asparagine, glutamic acid, arginine, glycine and ornithine) remaining after 14 days in an acid holding solution (pH < 3) stored at room temperature.

	% Remaining
NO <sub>3</sub>	84
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	100
Glutamine	35
Asparagine	100
Glutamic acid	100
Arginine	100
Glycine	100
Ornithine	100

Troughfall precipitation in the form of snowmelt was collected from three acid washed lysimeters sized 1.44 m<sup>2</sup> in the experimental forest adjacent to the N addition experiment. The lysimeters were installed on the ground prior to the winter and placed c. 10 m apart from each other (for details see Laudon *et al.* 2004). Snowmelt from the lysimeters was collected in plastic bags connected to them with plastic pipes.

### 3.5 Measuring soil N

Water extraction of soil samples were performed to determine soil concentrations of soluble forms of plant available N. Soil samples from the experimental site were collected at three different occasions. In the summer of 2004, prior to the <sup>15</sup>N-labeling experiment described in Paper III, soil samples were collected from control plots and from 12.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> plots (data presented in Paper III). In the summer of 2005, soil samples were collected from all the N treatment plots (data presented in this thesis).

At all sampling occasions one soil sample was collected from each N treatment plot. For this a 0.14 m diameter corer was used, and samples were taken from the mor layer. Samples were put in plastic bags and kept on ice while transported to the laboratory. At the laboratory, the coarse roots were carefully removed as well as the most recent litter, and the remaining sample was homogenized. Each homogenized sample was divided into two subsamples of *c*. 12 g fresh mass (FM). One subsample was left for dry mass (DM) ratio determination of the soil, and the other one was mixed with 60 mL of ultrapure water for one hour. The slurries were then immediately filtered through GF 30 glass fibre filters using a vacuum pump. The resulting extracts were frozen (-20 C°) until analysed.

### 3.6 Measuring plant N uptake

The use of <sup>15</sup>N-labeled N compounds makes it possible to study plant uptake of the compounds. Under most natural conditions a mixture of different N compounds are available to plants and therefore the N forms used in all experiments described in this thesis were combined in solutions so that each N form made up an equal proportion of the total amount of N in the solution. In each mixture only one of the N forms was labeled with <sup>15</sup>N.

In total three <sup>15</sup>N uptake experiments are presented in this thesis. In the first experiment natural rain events were simulated by using a mixture of three N forms (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and glycine) in concentrations similar to those found in rainwater. In July 2003, we applied the mixture during twenty wetting events (by spraying) to *H. splendens* and to *P. glauca* on control plots, 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> plots and recovery plots. The second experiment was performed during spring 2004 to study *H. splendens* N uptake during snowmelt. The same N mixture was added to the snowpack on the different N treatment plots one month prior to the initiation of snowmelt. The third experiment was performed in the summer of 2004 on control and 12.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> plots. The targeted species were *V. myrtillus* and *D. flexuosa*. In this experiment a fourth N form, peptides, was added to the N mixture, and the mixture was injected into the soil. In all three experiments the plant material was washed in 0.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> after harvest, to remove <sup>15</sup>N-labeled solutes not taken up by the plants but adhering to plant tissue surfaces.

### 3.7 Chemical analyses

When studying how plants respond to increased N supply it can be useful to study biochemical markers indicating major metabolic changes. Since the C and N metabolism in plants are closely intertwined I have focused on major compounds containing these two elements:

- *Free amino acids* are well known to be used by plants for both seasonal N storage and storage of N taken up in excess of the demands for growth (see for example Chapin *et al.* 1986, Lähdesmäki *et al.* 1990, Näsholm & Ericsson 1990, Lipson *et al.* 1996, Nordin & Näsholm 1997).
- *Chlorophylls* are the pigments used in photosynthesis, and are primarily responsible for harvesting the light energy that is used in carbon assimilation (Taiz & Zeigert 1998). Chlorophyll concentrations often reflect a plant's light and N availability, and also indicate its potential carbohydrate production capacity, which in turn provides energy for processes like growth and N uptake.
- Soluble carbohydrates. Besides energy, carbohydrates provides C skeletons for amino acid synthesis in the plant. In theory, excessive amino acid synthesis may therefore compete with growth supporting processes (Baxter *et al.* 1992, Nordin & Gunnarsson 2000, Paulissen *et al.* 2005). Although the protocol used for analyzing soluble carbohydrates detected sugars, sugar alcohols, and starch, the plant analyzed in this thesis, *H. splendens*, contained only detectable concentrations of sugars.

All extractions and analyses of amino acids from plant material were performed by RP-HPLC using gradient elution according to Nordin and Gunnarsson (2000). Amino acids in precipitation and soil extracts were also analyzed with RP-HPLC (Nordin *et al.* 2001). Nitrate in rain water was analyzed using the  $NO_3^-/NO_2^-$  colorometric assay kit no:780001 from Cayman chemicals, while  $NO_3^-$  in soil extracts was analyzed by ion chromatography.  $NH_4^+$  from plant material, in rainwater and in soil extracts were analyzed by RP-HPLC.  $NH_4^+$  in snowmelt was analyzed by the phenol-hypochlorite method.  $NO_3^-$  in snowmelt was analyzed by an autoanalyzer with cadmium reduction. Chlorophyll from plant material was determined with a spectrophotometer according to Palmqvist and Sundberg (2001). Soluble carbohydrates were analyzed by ion chromatography. <sup>15</sup>N abundance of  $^{15}N$  labeled plant material (as well as N % and C % of this material) was analyzed using Continuous Flow Isotope Mass Spectrometry (CF-IRMS).

### 4 Results and Discussion

The long-term N addition experiment within the Svartberget experimental forest used for the studies included in this thesis is located in a forest type common in north and central Scandinavia (spruce-dominated overstory and *V. myrtillus* dominated understory). The back-ground deposition of atmospherically transported N is relatively low (c. 3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>). Thus, the experiment is suitable for studying initial as well as long-term effects of N enrichment on ecosystem processes. The N doses applied (12.5 and 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> as NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>) were chosen so the lower dose is comparable to the levels of atmospheric N deposition over parts of south-Scandinavia, while the higher N dose simulates a more extreme rate of N enrichment than currently experienced in Scandinavia. In addition, the experiment includes plots where N additions have been terminated, which provides an opportunity to investigate ecosystem recovery from high N input.

# 4.1 Plant-available N forms in an N enriched boreal ecosystem

#### 4.1.1 In rain

Precipitation that reaches the forest floor underneath a forest canopy is termed throughfall precipitation (Parker 1983), which provides a pathway for nutrient input and transfer in forest ecosystems. Solutes in throughfall precipitation originate from tree leachates and deposition of atmospherically transported compounds. In Europe, measurements of throughfall N have been taken within the frameworks of various environmental monitoring programs, and have mainly focused on inorganic N forms. In Sweden, throughfall concentrations of  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  have

been extensively monitored for decades (see http://www.ivl.se/miljo/projekt/kron/). Few studies have, however, been made to explore whether N enrichment of an ecosystem influences the quantity and quality of throughfall N or whether plant available organic N forms, such as amino acids, make a substantial contribution to precipitation N. In this thesis it was demonstrated that in the Svartberget experimental forest the long-term N addition treatments had no significant influence on throughfall precipitation quantity or quality of N during the vegetation period (I). This indicates that N additions were not large enough to cause increased N leaching from the tree canopy. In addition, the results from Paper I show that of the N in throughfall precipitation (c. 2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), collected as rain over a single vegetative season (late May to early October), amino acids,  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  accounted for 17 %, 78 % and 5 %, respectively (I, Table 2).

**Table 2**. Concentrations ( $\mu$ g N dm<sup>-3</sup>) of plant-available N forms in throughfall precipitation as rain (25/5 - 3/10 2003) and snowmelt (10/4 - 29/4 2004). Values are means (n = 3-6) ± 1 S.E. (The table is a combination of rain data presented in Paper I and snowmelt data presented in Paper II).

Rain	$NH_4^+$	NO <sub>3</sub> .	Amino acids
25/5-26/6 2003	8.5±0.5	4.6±0.3	2.6±0.4
27/6-10/7 2003	33.4±2.7	1.8±0.1	6.8±1.0
11/7-31/7 2003	43.2±4.5	1.7±0.1	12.7±2.1
1/8-20/8 2003	31.3±3.7	1.3±0.1	8.3±1.7
21/8-3/10 2003	32.4±2.5	2.1±0.3	3.0±0.3
Snowmelt			
10/4-14/4 2004	1.9±0.1	$28.0{\pm}4.2$	0.6±0.1
15/4-17/4 2004	$1.5 \pm 0.1$	12.3±2.3	0.6±0.1
18/4-19/4 2004	$1.0 \pm 0.5$	7.7±1.0	$0.3 {\pm} 0.0$
20/4-24/4 2004	$1.4 \pm 0.5$	9.4±1.2	$0.4 {\pm} 0.2$
25/4-28/4 2004	$1.7{\pm}0.1$	12.6±0.7	$0.3 {\pm} 0.2$
29/4-2004	1.7±0.2	9.4±1.5	$0.4{\pm}0.1$

Possible amino acid sources in precipitation include agricultural inputs, oceanic injections of aerosols, and leakage from surrounding biota (Neff *et al.* 2002, Milne & Zika 1993). Since micro-organisms in the atmosphere can easily digest amino acids they are likely to be locally emitted and deposited (Neff *et al.* 2002). For example, amino acid concentrations in precipitation and aerosols over the ocean outside Florida have been observed to reach values of 13-15  $\mu$ M, compared to 0.3-0.5  $\mu$ M over the

large city Miami, which is further away from the presumed oceanic source (Mopper & Zika 1987). A major source of amino acids in forest throughfall precipitation could be the surrounding vegetation, since organic N compounds may leach from leaves or needles (Carlise *et al.* 1966, Parker 1983). Supporting this idea, higher concentrations of arginine and glutamine (the major amino acids in spruce needles during budburst) were found in throughfall precipitation at the Svartberget experimental forest during the early summer tree budburst and shoot elongation period (I).

#### 4.1.2 In snowmelt

A large part (c. one third) of the annual precipitation in boreal regions is normally added and accumulated as snow (Löfvenius et al. 2003). The potential plant-available N accumulated in the snowpack is released over a relatively rapid period during spring snowmelt. Several studies have reported considerable concentrations of  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  (Revnolds 1983.) Hiltbrunner et al. 2005), along with dissolved organic N (DON) (Petrone et al. 2007), in snow. The proportion of DON represented by plant-available organic N (i.e. amino acids) has not been well studied. Paper II presents results from a study in which the release of N forms directly available to plants ( $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$  and amino acids) was monitored during snowmelt in the Svartberget experimental forest. The results demonstrated that the snowpack contained about 0.3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> as  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$ , and amino acids, and that the contribution of amino acid N was minor (c. 3%). Instead, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> dominated the snowmelt N pool, amounting to 83% of the plant-available N, in contrast to the throughfall precipitation results from the vegetation growth period, in which  $NH_4^+$  was the dominant N form (I, Table 2). The high concentration of  $NO_3^-$  in snowmelt may result from airborne  $NO_3^$ deposition or microbial activities in the snow during snowmelt. Snow can host various organisms, such as snow algae, snow fungi, and eubacteria (Jones 1999a). Moreover, micro-organisms that utilize snow as a growth medium have been found, in some studies, to prefer NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> as an N source (Jones & DeBlois 1987, Delmas et al. 1996), leaving NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to be released with snowmelt.

#### 4.1.3 In soil

In N limited ecosystems, in arctic and boreal regions, degradation of organic N is generally a slow process. This result in a large proportion of organic N in the soil compared to  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  (Kielland 1995, Näsholm *et al.* 1998, Nordin *et al.* 2001). The majority of organic compounds found in boreal soils consist of various complex polymers (proteins, peptides,

DNA, RNA, chitin and lignin) and monomers (nucleic acids, amino sugars and amino acids) (Lipson & Näsholm 2001). Although the capacity of plants to take up organic N in the form of amino acids has been known for several decades (Virtanen & Linkola 1946, Melin & Nilsson 1953), the ecological significance of this capacity has previously been considered to be minor (Taiz & Ziegert 1998). Instead, the prevailing assumption has been that plants have to rely on mineralization of organic compounds into inorganic N forms before N can be assimilated (Tamm 1991). However, in the last decade it has become apparent that amino acids may provide a directly accessible N source for a variety of plants in boreal (Näsholm et al. 1998, Nordin et al. 2001), arctic (Kielland 1994, Kielland 1997, Nordin et al. 2004, Kielland et al. 2007), and alpine ecosystems (Raab et al. 1999, Lipson et al. 1999). Amino acid concentrations have been found to be substantial, or even higher, than mineral N concentrations in arctic and boreal soils (Näsholm et al. 1998, Nordin et al. 2001, Kielland et al. 2007). In addition, the amino acid pool is a highly dynamic soil N pool that turns over several times per day (Kielland 1995, Jones 1999b, Jones & Kielland 2002, Kielland et al. 2007).

Since the plant-accessible N pool in boreal forest soils generally is low and dominated by amino acids, addition of inorganic N as  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  may have direct as well as indirect effects on soil N form availability. A direct effect is increased availability of the added N forms, i.e.  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$ . Indirect effects include changes in soil N turnover due to the higher N availability. For example, N addition decreases the soil C:N ratio, increases the bacteria:fungi ratio, and increases soil mineralization and nitrification rates (Frey *et al.* 2004, Booth *et al.* 2005, Högberg *et al.* 2007a, 2007b).

In the N addition experiment at Svartberget I examined water extractable amino acids,  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  in soils on the N treatment plots on two different occasions in 2005, one in early July and one in mid-September (Fig. 3). The number of sampling points was one sample per 1000 m<sup>2</sup> plot, which was probably too little to sufficiently account for the within plot heterogeneity, and consequently replicate samples includes a large portion of variance that cannot be explained by the N treatments. One-way ANOVAs on log-transformed values revealed significant effects of N treatment on  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  concentrations in July (Fig. 3). This higher availability of inorganic N may have resulted from the fertilization event in late May, with soluble N remaining in the soil until the time of sampling in July. However, the fertilization effect diminished over the season, and soil

N concentrations in the N addition plots in September were similar to those in control plots (Fig. 3), and those found in studies of other (unfertilized) boreal soils (Näsholm *et al.* 1998, Nordin *et al.* 2001). However, measurements of pool sizes do not capture differences in flow-rates, and the rates of soil N mineralization can still be different between the N treatment plots (i.e. Chen & Högberg 2006). Unfortunately, studies of N mineralization rates have not yet been performed within the Svartberget N experiment.



**Figure 3.** Concentrations of water-extractable amino acid N, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> ( $\mu$ g N g<sup>-1</sup> DM soil) in soils from plots subjected to three different N treatments: control plots (white bars, 0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), low N addition plots (grey bars, 12.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), high N addition plots (black bars, 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) and recovery plots (striped bars, 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for five years and then no N addition for four years). Soils were sampled during 2005 on July 7 and September 19. One-way ANOVAs revealed significant treatment effects for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>--</sup> (p=0.048, MS=1.588, F=3.172, df=3) and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>++</sup> (p=0.035, MS=1.508, F=3.517, df=3) in July. Means (n = 6) ± 1 S.E. Note the different scales on the Y- axes.

#### 4.2 Plant responses to N enrichment

#### 4.2.1 Cryptogam uptake of troughfall precipitation N

Ground-living bryophytes and/or lichens often form continuous mats covering the ground in boreal forests, and epiphytic lichens can form substantial biomass within the tree canopy. Hence, in boreal forests cryptogams are the first recipients of throughfall rain precipitation and the nutrient pulse released during snowmelt. Two <sup>15</sup>N uptake experiments were performed to explore cryptogam uptake of different organic and inorganic N forms in throughfall precipitation and to investigate whether N enrichment influenced this uptake.

Inorganic N uptake by bryophytes and lichens is relatively well studied (for examples, see Crittenden 1996, 1998, Kielland 1997, Jauhiainen et al. 1998, Eckstein & Karlsson 1999). However, fewer studies have explored whether amino acids may contribute to the N supply of cryptogams (but see Simola 1975, Kielland 1997, Dahlman et al. 2004, Palmqvist & Dahlman 2006). The results presented in Paper I and in this thesis clearly demonstrated that *H. splendens* and *P. glauca* have the capacity to acquire the intact form of the amino acid glycine during the vegetation growth period (Fig. 4). In Paper II it was demonstrated that *H. splendens* was able to acquire intact glycine also from snowmelt in early spring (Fig. 4). Glycine uptake was quite substantial in relation to inorganic N uptake. For H. splendens glycine uptake corresponded to 67 % of the uptake of the most acquired N form from rain  $(NH_4^+)$ . In snowmelt, when accounted for dilution by the N present in the snowpack, glycine uptake on control plots corresponded to 27% of the most acquired N form from snowmelt ( $NO_3^{-}$ ) (II). For P. glauca glycine uptake corresponded to 80% of the most acquired N form from rain  $(NH_4^+)$  (Fig. 4).



**Figure 4.** Excess <sup>15</sup>N in *Hylocomium splendens* (a) and *Platismatia glauca* (b) tissues after <sup>15</sup>N addition as simulated rain events and in *Hylocomium splendens* (c) after <sup>15</sup>N addition to the snowpack prior to snowmelt. The bars represent uptake from <sup>15</sup>N-labeled glycine (white bars),  $NH_4^+$  (black bars), and  $NO_3^-$  (grey bars). The three N forms were combined in mixtures in which one N form was labeled at a time. The cryptogams were growing in three different N treatment plots; control (0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), N addition (50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for eight years), and recovery (50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for five years and then no N addition for three years). Means (n = 5) ± 1 S.E. Note that data on *H. splendens* N uptake from rain was reported in Paper I and data on *H. splendens* N uptake from snowmelt on control plots was reported in Paper II. Remaining data is only reported in this thesis.

Interestingly, N uptake was not affected by long-term N additions in either *H. splendens* or *P. glauca*. Furthermore, internal N concentrations in *P. glauca* were similar irrespective of the N addition treatment (data not shown). These findings indicate that the annual application of fertilizer N to the ground (for a description of the experiment see p. 19 in *Material and Methods*) had no effect on the tree-living lichen. In contrast, ground-living *H. splendens* had significantly higher N concentrations after N addition (control, 8.4 mg N g<sup>-1</sup> DM; N addition, 18.7 mg N g<sup>-1</sup> DM; recovery, 11.1 mg N g<sup>-1</sup> DM) (I). However, despite higher internal N concentrations, *H. splendens* N uptake did not differ between N treatments (I, Fig. 4). This is in contrast to higher plants, where N uptake is regulated according to the whole plant N demand and hence down-regulated as internal N concentrations increase (Vidmar *et al.* 2000).

#### 4.2.2 Ecophysiology of H. splendens

In Paper I it is demonstrated that N addition decreases *H. splendens* abundance and density. Several different physiological mechanisms have been suggested as possible contributors to such N-induced bryophyte decline. The results presented in this thesis indeed support the suggestion by Jauhiainen *et al.* (1998) that bryophyte N uptake is less well regulated than N uptake in higher plants. Unregulated N uptake may result in

accumulation of toxic  $NH_4^+$  in moss tissues subjected to high N conditions (Bates 1992). It has been suggested that  $NH_4^+$  toxicity is related to that high internal  $NH_4^+$  concentrations may cause plant cell membranes to dysfunction (Limpens & Berendse 2003, Paulissen *et al.* 2005). Potassium leakage from tissues has been used as a indicator of such membrane dysfunction (Pearce *et al.* 2003, Paulissen *et al.* 2005).  $NH_4^+$  needs to be incorporated into amino acids to avoid toxic accumulation, but this process demands energy and a sufficient availability of soluble C. Therefore, in theory, excessive amino acid synthesis may compete with growth-supporting processes (Baxter *et al.* 1992, Nordin & Gunnarsson 2000, Paulissen *et al.* 2005).

In Paper I, it was demonstrated that arginine dominated the amino acid pool in *H. splendens* from N addition plots, since arginine concentrations were more than 10 times as high as in moss from control plots. This accumulation did, however, have no influence on moss tissue concentrations of sugars as no significant difference was observed between mosses from the two N treatments. Hence, the data suggests that the C supplied through photosynthesis was enough to sustain the pool of sugars as well as the elevated arginine synthesis in *H. splendens* at the N addition plots.

In conjunction to the N uptake study in Paper II, we performed a study of how increased N supply may interfere with the physiological responses of *H. splendens* to snowmelt. Whether high N supply may interfere with moss metabolic responses to the sudden transition from being under the snow to being in bright light are not well studied. Woolgrove & Woodin (1996) showed that the bryophyte *Kiaria starkei* (a typical snow-bed bryophyte) was capable of photosynthetic activity immediately after snow removal and that tissue concentration of carbohydrates more than doubled during the transition from being under the snow to being in full light. To reveal whether the N status of *H. splendens* had any effects on the metabolic events following snowmelt, we studied selected N and C compounds in the moss during a time sequence following snowmelt (Fig. 5).

Interestingly, at the time of snowmelt (day 0) the amino acid concentrations of *H. splendens* was not significantly different between the N treatment plots, while at the end of the observation period (day 22) amino acid concentrations were significantly higher in moss on N addition plots than in moss on control or recovery plots (Fig. 5). This increase of the

amino acid pool over time following snow melt was mainly due to increasing arginine concentrations (Fig. 5). Because no N was applied to the mosses during this time period, the increase in arginine concentrations must have occurred via re-allocation of N from senescing to viable parts of the moss. Alternatively, degradation of N compounds (proteins) followed by arginine synthesis may have occurred within the green segments. In support for the former alternative, substantial translocation of N from decaying parts to top segments has previously been reported for *H. splendens* (Eckstein 2000).



**Figure 5.** Concentrations (mg N g<sup>-1</sup> DM, mg Chl g<sup>-1</sup> DM and mg C g<sup>-1</sup> DM) of N and C compounds in *H. splendens* from three different N treatments: Control o (0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), N addition  $\blacksquare$  (50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) and Recovery  $\Delta$  (50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for five years and then no N addition for three years) 0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 days after snowmelt. Means (n = 1-5) ± 1 S.E. Note the different scales on the Y-axes.

*H. splendens* chlorophyll concentrations were similar, regardless of N treatment on day 0 (snow covered) (Fig. 5). Furthermore, the transition into light did not cause any significant changes in *H. splendens* chlorophyll concentrations during the three-week study period. This is in contrast to findings reported by Woolgrove and Woodin (1996) of a ten-fold increase in *K. starkei* chlorophyll concentrations two weeks after snow removal. N addition treatments had no significant effects on moss tissue sugar concentrations following snowmelt (Fig. 5). However, sugar pool

composition in the moss changed during the observation period (Fig. 6). At snowmelt (day 0), *H. splendens* contained the simple sugars glucose and fructose, but no sucrose (Fig. 5). Following snowmelt sucrose concentrations rapidly increased, and at the end of the observation period (day 22) sucrose dominated the sugar pool. These findings suggest that increased light following snowmelt resulted in accumulation of soluble C (which was not directly needed in the moss metabolism) in the form of sucrose.

# 4.2.3 Nitrogen competition between V. myrtillus and D. flexuosa

It has been suggested that arctic and boreal plant species within the same plant community may partition the N resources between them, thereby reducing inter-specific competition for N and facilitate species coexistence (e.g. Kielland 1994, McKane *et al.* 2002, Miller & Bowman 2003, Reynolds *et al.* 2003). Such partitioning may be based on differences in N form preferences between co-existing plant species, and support for this hypothesis includes between-species differences in the relative uptake of different types of N (e.g. Näsholm *et al.* 1998, McKane *et al.* 2002, Kahmen *et al.* 2006). Moreover, the relative abundance of inorganic N forms (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) in soils has been proposed to be an important determinant for plant species distribution (Diekmann & Falkengren-Grerup 1998). Thus, theoretically, N enrichment of forest soils has the potential to alter the prerequisites for co-existence and competition between species by altering the relative abundance of different N forms.

It is well known that N addition induces vegetation changes in boreal ecosystem (Strengbom *et al.* 2001, Nordin *et al.* 2005). In Paper III we aimed to elucidate if species specific preferences for different N forms could be an important driver behind the observed vegetation change within the Svartberget N addition experiment where the grass *D. flexuosa* has increased in abundance (Nordin *et al.* 2005). We hypothesized that on control plots a high capacity of *V. myrtillus* to use organic N forms would ensure its dominance over *D. flexuosa*, while at N addition plots a high capacity of *D. flexuosa* to use inorganic N (in particular  $NO_3^-$ ) would support grass proliferation. However, the result from the study presented in Paper III demonstrated that *D. flexuosa* acquired more labeled N than *V. myrtillus* regardless of N form, although the difference in acquisition was largest for  $NO_3^-$  of graminoids (McKane *et al.* 2002, Persson *et al.* 2003, Nordin *et* 

*al.* 2006). Furthermore, this has been interpreted as a key component in the process whereby grasses out-compete other plants, e.g. after forest clear cutting (Kronzücker *et al.* 1997).

# 4.2.4 Interactions between plants and their natural enemies

Besides N uptake processes related to interspecific competition for N, plant community structure is also influenced by interactions between plants and their natural enemies. N addition causes increased plant tissue N concentrations, increasing the nutritional value of the plants, which may result in greater damage to them by their natural enemies. In the Svartberget study system all frequent natural enemies were related to the dominant understory species, *V. myrtillus*. The most abundant organisms were the leaf pathogen *Valdensia heterodoxa* causing a brown spot disease on *V. myrtillus* leaves and larvae of *Operophtera brumata and O. fagata* consuming leaves as well as annual shoots of *V. myrtillus*.

In Paper IV a positive effect of N addition both on Valdensia heterodoxa and on Operophtera spp. larvae was demonstrated. For both the fungus and the larvae this has been shown also in previous studies (Nordin et al. 1998, Strengbom et al. 2002, 2005, Nordin et al. 2006, Strengbom et al. 2006). What Paper IV demonstrates in addition to these previous studies, is (1) an interaction between V. heterodoxa and Operophtera spp. larvae, and (2) the long-term dynamics of the system. Hence, during the study period an outbreak of *Operophtera* spp. larvae lasting for several consecutive years caused severe V. myrtillus decline on all N treatment plots and diminished disease incidence of V. heterodoxa due to that the fungal substrate (V. myrtillus leaves) was consumed by the larvae before they could be infected by the fungus. After the outbreak of larvae was over, it took a year before V. heterodoxa disease incidence was back on the same levels as before the outbreak. Paper IV concludes that the part of the effect of N addition on the competitive interaction between V. myrtillus and D. flexuosa is indirect and mediated by these natural enemies.

## 4.2.5 The understory species composition after 12 years of N addition

This thesis demonstrates that plant N uptake and plant interactions with their natural enemies are processes that contribute to N induced vegetation change. Twelve years of yearly N additions to the understory vegetation in the Svartberget experimental forest resulted in a strong decline of the previously dominant bryophyte *H. splendens*, while the second most abundant moss, *Pleurozium shcreberi*, was not significantly affected (Fig. 6). For vascular species the graminoid *D. flexuosa* increased from the N additions, while *V. vitis-idaea* decreased (Fig. 6). For the dominant vascular plant, *V. myrtillus*, the abundance in 2007 did not vary significantly due to the N additions (Fig. 6). However, abundance of *V. myrtillus* over the 12-year period was influenced also by biotic interactions (IV). Paper IV as well as other studies performed in the same study system has displayed a negative impact of N addition on *V. myrtillus* abundance (Strengbom *et al.* 2002, Nordin *et al.* 2005). In general for all species impacted by the N additions, the abundance response to the 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> treatment was not four times as strong as the response to the 12.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> treatment (Fig. 6).

Many of N induced vegetation changes recorded in this long-term N addition experiment have also been observed by other investigators in similar study systems (see for example Hallingbäck 1992, Nilsson *et al.* 2002, Skrindo & Økland 2002). Nilsson *et al.* (2002) reported increased abundance of *D. flexuosa* after N addition as well as after removal of the dominant ericaceous shrub *Empetrum hermaphroditum* in an alpine tundra community. Skrindo and Økland (2002) found decreased abundance of the bryophytes *Dicranum polysetum* and *D. fuscescens* after 6 years of N addition, while the abundance of *P. schreberi* was unchanged. Laboratory studies have confirmed that different bryophyte species may tolerate different levels of N. Salemaa *et al.* (2008) showed that of three forest mosses (*H. splendens*, *D. polysetum* and *P. schreberi*) *H. splendens* had the lowest tolerance for N before growth inhibition occurred, while *P. schreberi* had the highest.



**Figure 6.** Abundance (hits  $m^{-2}$ ) of *V. myrtillus*, *D. flexuosa*, *V. vitis- idaea*, *H. splendens* and *P. schreberi* in three different N treatment plots: control (0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), low N addition (12.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) and high N addition (50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) in the year 2007 (following 12 years of N addition). Means (n = 6) ±1 S.E. One-way ANOVAs showed a significant effect of N treatment for *D. flexuosa* (p=0.028), *V. vitis-idaea* (p=0.044) and *H. splendens* (p=0.000). Note the different scales on the Y-axes.

### 5 Summary of major findings

Monitoring of throughfall precipitation N in a full-grown spruce-dominated forest in north-Sweden showed that rainwater during the vegetation period contributed with c. 2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> and snowmelt with c. 0.3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> to the forest vegetation. During the vegetation period the majority of this N was in the form of  $NH_4^+$  while  $NO_3^-$  dominated the plant available N pool during snowmelt. Organic N in the form of amino acids made a substantial contribution to plant available throughfall precipitation N (17% of the total N pool in summer and 3 % during snowmelt). Experimental N enrichment of the ecosystem did not alter throughfall precipitation N quantity or quality. This indicates that the magnitude of experimental N enrichment was not enough to cause increased N leaching to intercepted precipitation from the tree canopy. Soil concentrations of inorganic N were, however, elevated during the vegetation period on plots subjected to experimental N enrichment.

<sup>15</sup>N uptake experiments targeting the ground-living bryophyte *Hylocomium splendens* and the tree-living lichen *Platismatia glauca* on plots treated with 0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Control), 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for eight years (N addition) and 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for five years and no N addition for three years (Recovery) showed that the long-term N enrichment had no significant effect on cryptogam N uptake. On all plots both species were capable of taking up both inorganic (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and organic (glycine) N to the same extent.

Vegetation analysis revealed that addition of 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for eight years had decreased *H. splendens* abundance with 81%. Biochemical analysis of *H. splendens* collected during the vegetation period from Control, N addition and Recovery plots revealed higher concentrations of

amino acids (especially of arginine) in *H. splendens* from N additions plots. Concentrations of soluble carbohydrates and chlorophyll remained unchanged from the N treatments. Interestingly, at the time of snowmelt arginine concentrations were similar in moss from all N treatment plots. Following snowmelt the arginine concentrations in moss from the N addition plots increased rapidly during a three week period suggesting internal reallocation of N during this time of year. During the same time period also sucrose concentrations increased in moss from all N treatment plots.

A <sup>15</sup>N experiment targeting N competition between *Vaccinium myrtillus* and *Deschampsia flexuosa* on plots treated with 0 and 12.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for nine years showed no significant effect of the long-term N treatments on the plant uptake of  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$ , glycine or peptides. The results revealed that *V. myrtillus* and *D. flexuosa* were both capable of acquiring N from  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$  and glycine, but not substantially from peptides. When N uptake of the two species was related to the plant biomass, *D. flexuosa* was more efficient than *V. myrtillus* in acquiring all the N forms, although the difference between the species was greatest for  $NO_3^-$ .

The long-term (12 years) monitoring of the understory vegetation on plots treated with 0, 12.5 and 50.0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> demonstrated that two organisms functioning as natural enemies to the dominant plant, *V. myrtillus*, the fungal pathogen *Valdensia heterodoxa* and herbivorous *Operophtera* spp. larvae, exerted strong control over the vegetation dynamics.

### 6 Conclusion

The work described in this thesis demonstrates that N enrichment of a boreal forest ecosystem has profound implications for several ecophysiological processes that influence understory species composition. The studies focused particularly on plant N uptake in relation to qualitative and quantitative aspects of N supply. It was found that for the studied species (including both vascular plants and a common bryophyte in boreal forests) N enrichment did not influence either the quality or quantity of N taken up by the plants, i.e. neither their capacity to take up different forms of N, or the magnitude of this uptake. For the studied bryophyte its apparent inability to downregulate N uptake when high levels of N were available, resulted in N accumulation in the form of free amino acids (mainly arginine) in its tissues and a decline in its abundance.

The relative amounts of different N forms taken up by the studied vascular species (the ericaceous shrub *Vaccinium myrtillus* and the graminoid *Deschampsia flexuosa*) on control plots and N-addition plots appeared to be very similar, indicating that neither of these species has the capacity to change their N form preferences in response to N enrichment. However, when N uptake per unit biomass of these competing plant species was compared, *D. flexuosa* was found to acquire N, in all available forms (but especially NO<sub>3</sub>), more efficiently than *V. myrtillus*. In addition, *D. flexuosa* efficiently allocated NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to aboveground growth. Thus, the well documented proliferation of *D. flexuosa* under conditions of N enrichment appears to be related to a relatively high capacity of this species to acquire N, especially as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and efficiently use it.

Further ecophysiological factors that influence competition between *V*. *myrtillus* and *D. flexuosa* under conditions of N enrichment are the effects

of increases in N concentrations in their tissues, and consequent increases in the nutritional value of the plants, which in turn may result in greater damage to them by their natural enemies. The results from long-term (12 years) vegetation monitoring showed that the competition between V. *myrtillus* and D. *flexuosa* was influenced by two natural enemies, both targeting V. *myrtillus*. The pathogenic fungi Valdensia heterodoxa and herbivorous Operophtera spp. larvae both affected the abundance of V. *myrtillus*, but the relative strength of their effects alternated over time. N enrichment had a significant positive effect on the abundance of the organisms, resulting in greater damage to V. *myrtillus* on N-enriched plots.

In summary, the studies included in this thesis conceptualize the intricate interactions between biotic and abiotic factors that determine the plant community structure of boreal forests. The results have several implications for boreal forest management strategies, especially the use of N fertilizers in forestry to increase forest yields. The thesis displays that N supply is a forceful factor interfering with many central mechanisms directing plant community structure of boreal forests.

### 7 Future challenges

Bryophytes have a central role controlling nutrient fluxes in the boreal ecosystem. They are the first receiver of throughfall and are well capable of acquiring N from both precipitation and snowmelt (I, II). They also contribute to ecosystem N retention by being associated with N<sub>2</sub>-fixing bacteria (DeLuca *et al.* 2002). Moreover, reductions in moss mat density have been shown to increase soil moisture (Gornall *et al.* 2007) and temperatures (Van der Wal & Brooker 2004, Gornall *et al.* 2007), which promote increased decomposition rates (Hobbie *et al.* 2000) and consequently, increased mineralization rates (Schmidt *et al.* 2002, Gornall *et al.* 2007). Bryophytes thus seem to have large impact on N cycling in ecosystems and hence the ecological consequences of reductions in the moss layer in areas of high N deposition merits further investigations.

A related specific question concerns the fate of N originating from snowmelt not retained by ground-living bryophytes. It remains to be examined if, and to what extent, boreal vascular plants are capable of taking up N during snowmelt and if the N is incorporated into the soil microbial biomass or ends up in streams and rivers. Another question related to throughfall precipitation is if there are differences in throughfall precipitation chemistry depending on surrounding vegetation and background N deposition.

It is clear that N enrichment have direct as well as indirect effects on plant specie composition of naturally N limited ecosystems The results from Paper III indicate that species differ in their uptake efficiency of different N forms. The question remains wether if the effects on understory vegetation after for example a forest fertilization event can be reduced by altering the composition of chemical N fertilizers. I would also like to point out the need for more knowledge of how N is retained in the ecosystem after N input is stopped, for example as N deposition decreases, or after a commercial forest fertilization event. Specifically more data is needed on whether N induced vegetation changes are reversible or not. Although existing data indicates that the soil seems to approach similar values of N availability as before N addition within a reasonable time period (Quist *et al.* 1999, Högberg *et al.* 2007b) changes in the vascular vegetation persists for much longer. For example, Strengbom and Nordin (2008) found higher N concentrations in the vascular vegetation 20 years after commercial forest fertilization events. Increased infections by *Valdensia heterodoxa* on *Vaccinium myrtillus* up to 47 years after terminated N input has also been recorded (Strengbom *et al.* 2001). Thus addition of N affects an N limited ecosystem in complex longlasting manner that are not fully understood.

The research presented in this thesis was supported by grants from the Center for Environmental Research in Umeå (CMF).

### 8 Acknowledgements

Tack till Annika för att du tålmodig lärt mig hur texter ska läggas upp, statistik ska tolkas och prover analyseras. Men mest av allt, tack för allt engagemang och arbete, fler skulle ha förmånen att ha handledare som dig.

Tack, Torgny, Lasse och Kicki för stöd, samtal och diskussioner. Det har känts tryggt att ha er i bakgrunden. Jocke, för ditt stora engagemang, all introduktion och orientering på Svartberget och för värdefulla kommentarer på manuskript. Margareta som guidat mig igenom laboratorievärldens labyrint, ställt upp dag och natt som akutförmedlare av snabba HPLC svar och även ibland som ambulerande HPLC jour. Jag har verkligen uppskattat allt småsnack på labb om ditt och datt. Utan dig skulle min avhandling ha tagit betydligt längre tid och varit avsevärt tråkigare att göra. Detsamma gäller Ann, ditt excellent fältarbete och trevliga sällskap förhöjer vardagen.

Tack, Henrik, Sandra, Junko och Jenny, mina gamla och nya rumskompisar. Ni har alla gjort att hönsburen har känts luftig genom hänsyn, humor samt svar på världsproblem och en och annan akademisk fråga. Gamla och nya medlemmar av N gruppen för samarbete. Lena W, Lisa, Anna, Björn och Ann för en dyngbra, effektiv och precis gödslingshjälp. AnnBritt och Jonas för er imponerande flexibilitet och tålmodiga väntan på att jag ska bli klar.

Johanna, Kicki, Åsa, Lisa, Lisa, Linda, Hanna och Annika, med era fantastiska män och barn som bara blir fler och fler. Vad vore Umeå utan er! Tack för allt kul vi hittat på under åren men också för hjälpen när den behövts. Jag ser fram emot alla kommande äventyr, stora som små. Alex, Micke och skogisvännerna för trevliga middagar, sabreringar och en värld utanför universitetet. Min far, mor och bror som alltid lyssnar på mina mossiga utläggningar och delar med sig av erfarenheter från andra sidan.

Til sist, mina Mistas, ni är verkligen det bästa som finns.

### 9 References

- Aerts, R., F. Berendse, H. Decaluwe, and M. Schmitz. 1990. Competition in heathland along an experimental gradient of nutrient availability. *Oikos* 57:310-318.
- Ahti T., L. Hämet-Ahti, and J. Jalas. 1968. Vegetation zones and their sections in Northwestern Europe. *Annales Botanici Fennici* 5:169-211.
- Bates, J. W. 1992. Mineral nutrient acquisition and retention by bryophytes. *Journal of Bryology* 17:223-240.
- Baxter, R., M. J. Emes, and J. A. Lee. 1992. Effects of an experimentally applied increase in ammonium on growth and amino-acid-metabolism of *Sphagnum-cuspidatum* Ehrh Ex Hoffm from differently polluted areas. *New Phytologist* 120:265-274.
- Booth, M. S., J. M. Stark, and E. Rastetter. 2005. Controls on nitrogen cycling in terrestrial ecosystems: A synthetic analysis of literature data. *Ecological Monographs* 75:139-157.
- Carlise, A., A. H. F. Brown, and E. J. White. 1966. The organic matter and nutrient elements in the precipitation beneath a sessile oak (*Quercus petraea*) canopy. *Journal of Ecology* 54:87-98.
- Chapin, F. S. III. 1980. The mineral-nutrition of wild plants. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 11:233-260.
- Chapin, F. S. III., G. R. Shaver, and R. A. Kedrowski. 1986. Environmental controls over carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus fractions in *Eriophorum vaginatum* in Alaskan tussock tundra. *Journal of Ecology* 74:167-195.
- Chapin, F. S. III., L. Moilanen, and K. Kielland. 1993. Preferential use of organic nitrogen for growth by a nonmycorrhizal Arctic sedge. *Nature* 361:150-153.
- Chen, Y., and P. Högberg. 2006. Gross nitrogen mineralization rates still high 14 years after suspension of N input to a N-saturated forest. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 38:2001-2003.
- Crawley, M. J. 1993. *Herbivory. The dynamics of animal-plant interactions*. Blackwell Scientific publications, London.
- Crittenden, P. D. 1996. The effect of oxygen deprivation on inorganic nitrogen uptake in an Antarctic macrolichen. *Lichenologist* 28:347-354.
- Crittenden, P. D. 1998. Nutrient exchange in an Antarctic macrolichen during summer snowfall snow melt events. *New Phytologist* 139:697-707.

- Dahlman, L., J. Persson, K. Palmqvist, and T. Näsholm. 2004. Organic and inorganic nitrogen uptake in lichens. *Planta* 219:459-467.
- Delmas, V., H. G. Jones, M. Tranter, and R. Delmas. 1996. The weathering of aeolian dusts in alpine snows. *Atmospheric Environment* 30:1317-1325.
- DeLuca, T. H., O. Zackrisson, M. C. Nilsson, and A. Sellstedt. 2002. Quantifying nitrogenfixation in feather moss carpets of boreal forests. *Nature* 419:917-920.
- Diekmann, M., and U. Falkengren-Grerup. 1998. A new species index for forest vascular plants: development of functional indices based on mineralization rates of various forms of soil nitrogen. *Journal of Ecology* 86:269-283.
- Eckstein, R. L., and P. S. Karlsson. 1999. Recycling of nitrogen among segments of *Hylocomium splendens* as compared with *Polytrichum* commune: Implications for clonal integration in an ectohydric bryophyte. *Oikos* 86:87-96.
- Eckstein, R. L. 2000. Nitrogen retention by *Hylocomium splendens* in a subarctic birch woodland. *Journal of Ecology* 88:506-515.
- Frey, S. D., M. Knorr, J. L. Parrent, and R. T. Simpson. 2004. Chronic nitrogen enrichment affects the structure and function of the soil microbial community in temperate hardwood and pine forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* 196:159-171.
- Galloway, J. N., F. J. Dentener, D. G. Capone, E. W. Boyer, R. W. Howarth, S. P. Seitzinger, G. P. Asner, C. C. Cleveland, P. A. Green, E. A. Holland, D. M. Karl, A. F. Michaels, J. H. Porter, A. R. Townsend, and C. J. Vorosmarty. 2004. Nitrogen cycles: past, present, and future. *Biogeochemistry* 70:153-226.
- Gornall, J. L., I. S. Jonsdottir, S. J. Woodin, and R. Van der Wal. 2007. Arctic mosses govern below-ground environment and ecosystem processes. *Oecologia* 153:931-941.
- Grime, J. P. 1977. Evidence for existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. *American Naturalist* 111:1169-1194.
- Gruber, N., and J. N. Galloway. 2008. An earth-system perspective of the global nitrogen cycle. *Nature* 451:293-296.
- Hallingbäck, T. 1992. The effect of air-pollution on mosses in southern Sweden. *Biological Conservation* 59:163-170.
- Harper, J. H. 1990. *Pests, pathogens and plant communities*. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- Hiltbrunner, E., M. Schwikowski, and C. Korner. 2005. Inorganic nitrogen storage in alpine snow pack in the Central Alps (Switzerland). *Atmospheric Environment* 39:2249-2259.
- Hobbie, S. E., J. P. Schimel, S. E. Trumbore, and J. R. Randerson. 2000. Controls over carbon storage and turnover in high-latitude soils. *Global Change Biology* 6:196-210.
- Högberg, M. N., Y. Chen, and P. Högberg. 2007a. Gross nitrogen mineralisation and fungito-bacteria ratios are negatively correlated in boreal forests. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 44:363-366.
- Högberg, M. N., P. Högberg, and D. D. Myrold. 2007b. Is microbial community composition in boreal forest soils determined by pH, C-to-N ratio, the trees, or all three? *Oecologia* 150:590-601.
- Huntly, N. 1991. Herbivores and the dynamics of communities and ecosystems. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 22:477-503.

- IPCC, 2007. Synthesis report AR4; Climate change 2007 -impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Cambridge University Press.
- Jauhiainen, J., B. Wallén, and N. Malmer. 1998. Potential NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> uptake in seven *Sphagnum* species. *New Phytologist* 138:287-293.
- Jones, H. G., and C. Deblois. 1987. Chemical-dynamics of N-containing ionic species in a boreal forest snowcover during the spring melt period. *Hydrological Processes* 1:271-282.
- Jones, H. G. 1999a. The ecology of snow-covered systems: a brief overview of nutrient cycling and life in the cold. *Hydrological Processes* 13:2135-2147.
- Jones, D. L. 1999b. Amino acid biodegradation and its potential effects on organic nitrogen capture by plants. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 31:613-622.
- Jones, D. L., and K. Kielland. 2002. Soil amino acid turnover dominates the nitrogen flux in permafrost-dominated taiga forest soils. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 34:209-219.
- Kahmen, A., C. Renker, S. B. Unsicker, and N. Buchmann. 2006. Niche complementarity for nitrogen: An explanation for the biodiversity and ecosystem functioning relationship? *Ecology* 87:1244-1255.
- Kalliola, R. 1973. Suomen Kasvimaantiede. Werner Söderström Porvoo, Helsinki.
- Kerslake, J. E., L. E. B. Kruuk, S. E. Hartley, and S. J. Woodin. 1996. Winter moth (*Operophtera brumata (Lepidoptera: Geometridae*)) outbreaks on Scottish heather moorlands: Effects of host plant and parasitoids on larval survival and development. *Bulletin of Entomological Research* 86:155-164.
- Kielland, K. 1994. Amino-acid-absorption by arctic plants implications for plant nutrition and nitrogen cycling. *Ecology* 75:2373-2383.
- Kielland, K. 1995. Landscape patterns of free amino acids in arctic tundra soils. *Biogeochemistry* 31:85-98.
- Kielland, K. 1997. Role of free amino acids in the nitrogen economy of arctic cryptogams. *ÉcoScience* 4:75-79.
- Kielland, K., J. W. McFarland, R. W. Ruess, and K. Olson. 2007. Rapid cycling of organic nitrogen in taiga forest ecosystems. *Ecosystems* 10:360-368.
- Kronzücker, H. J., M. Y. Siddique, and A. D. M. Glass. 1997. Conifer root discrimination against soil nitrate and the ecology of forest succession. *Nature* 385:59-61.
- Lähdesmäki, P., T. Pakonen, E. Saari, K. Laine, and P. Havas. 1990. Environmental-factors affecting basic nitrogen-metabolism and seasonal levels of various nitrogen fractions in tissues of bilberry, *Vaccinium myrtillus. Holarctic Ecology* 13:19-30.
- Laudon, H., S. Kohler, and I. Buffam. 2004. Seasonal TOC export from seven boreal catchments in northern Sweden. *Aquatic Science* 6:223-230.
- Limpens, J., and F. Berendse. 2003. Growth reduction of *Sphagnum magellanicum* subjected to high nitrogen deposition: the role of amino acid nitrogen concentration. *Oecologia* 135:339-345.
- Lipson, D. A., T. K. Raab, and R. K. Monson. 1996. delta-Acetylornithine as a major nitrogen storage compound in *Bistorta bistortoides*. *Phytochemistry* 41:29-30.
- Lipson, D. A., T. K. Raab, S. K. Schmidt, and R. K. Monson. 1999. Variation in competitive abilities of plants and microbes for specific amino acids. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 29:257-261.

- Lipson, D. A., and T. Näsholm. 2001. The unexpected versatility of plants: organic nitrogen use and availability in terrestrial ecosystems. *Oecologia* 128:305-316.
- Löfvenius, M. O., M. Kluge, and T. Lundmark. 2003. Snow and soil frost depth in two types of shelterwood and a clear-cut area. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 18:54-63.
- Magnani, F., M. Mencuccini, M. Borghetti, P. Berbigier, F. Berninger, S. Delzon, A. Grelle,
  P. Hari, P. G. Jarvis, P. Kolari, A. S. Kowalski, H. Lankreijer, B. E. Law, A. Lindroth,
  D. Loustau, G. Manca, J. B. Moncrieff, M. Rayment, V. Tedeschi, R. Valentini, and J.
  Grace. 2007. The human footprint in the carbon cycle of temperate and boreal forests. *Nature* 447:848-850.
- Marschner, H. 1995. The mineral nutrition of plants. Academic press, London.
- McKane, R. B., L. C. Johnson, G. R. Shaver, K. J. Nadelhoffer, E. B. Rastetter, B. Fry, A. E. Giblin, K. Kielland, B. L. Kwiatkowski, J. A. Laundre, and G. Murray. 2002. Resource-based niches provide a basis for plant species diversity and dominance in arctic tundra. *Nature* 415:68-71.
- Melin, E., and Nilsson. H. 1953. Transfer of labeled nitrogen from glutamic acid to pine seedlings through the mycelium of *Boletus variegates* (Sw) Fr. *Nature* 171:134.
- Miller, A. E., and W. D. Bowman. 2003. Alpine plants show species-level differences in the uptake of organic and inorganic nitrogen. *Plant and Soil* 250:283-292.
- Milne, P. J., and R. G. Zika. 1993. Amino-acid nitrogen in atmospheric aerosols occurrence, sources and photochemical modification. *Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry* 16:361-398.
- Mitchell, C. E. 2003. Trophic control of grassland production and biomass by pathogens. *Ecology Letters* 6:147-155.
- Mopper, K., and R. G. Zika. 1987. Free amino-acids in marine rains evidence for oxidation and potential role in nitrogen cycling. *Nature* 325:246-249.
- Näsholm, T., and A. Ericsson. 1990. Seasonal-changes in amino-acids, protein and total nitrogen in needles of fertilized Scots pine trees. *Tree Physiology* 6:267-281.
- Näsholm, T., A. Ekblad, A. Nordin, R. Giesler, M. Högberg, and P. Högberg. 1998. Boreal forest plants take up organic nitrogen. *Nature* 392:914-916.
- Neff, J. C., E. A. Holland, F. J. Dentener, W. H. McDowell, and K. M. Russell. 2002. The origin, composition and rates of organic nitrogen deposition: A missing piece of the nitrogen cycle? *Biogeochemistry* 57:99-136.
- Niemelä, P., J. Tahvanainen, J. Sorjonen, T. Hokkanen, and S. Neuvonen. 1982. The influence of host plant-growth form and phenology on the life strategies of Finnish *Macrolepidopterous* larvae. *Oikos* 39:164-170.
- Nilsson, M. C., D. A. Wardle, O. Zackrisson, and A. J\u00e4derlund. 2002. Effects of alleviation of ecological stresses on an alpine tundra community over an eight-year period. *Oikos* 97:3-17.
- Nohrstedt, H. O., and O. Westling. 1995. *Miljökonsekvensbeskrivning av STORA Skogs gödslingsprogram*. Del 1, Faktaunderlag. IVL, Swedish Environmental Research Institute, Rapport IVL B 1218 (In Swedish).
- Nordin, A., and T. Näsholm. 1997. Nitrogen storage forms in nine boreal understory plant species. *Oecologia* 110:487-492.

Nordin, A., T. Näsholm, and L. Ericson. 1998. Effects of simulated N deposition on understory vegetation of a boreal coniferous forest. *Functional Ecology* 12:691-699.

- Nordin, A., and U. Gunnarsson. 2000. Amino acid accumulation and growth of *Sphagnum* under different levels of N deposition. *ÉcoScience* 7:474-480.
- Nordin, A., P. Högberg, and T. Näsholm. 2001. Soil nitrogen form and plant nitrogen uptake along a boreal forest productivity gradient. *Oecologia* 129:125-132.
- Nordin, A., I. K. Schmidt, and G. R. Shaver. 2004. Nitrogen uptake by arctic soil microbes and plants in relation to soil nitrogen supply. *Ecology* 85:955-962.
- Nordin, A., J. Strengbom, J. Witzell, T. Näsholm, and L. Ericson. 2005. Nitrogen deposition and the biodiversity of boreal forests- implications for the nitrogen critical load. *Ambio* 34:3-17.
- Nordin, A., J. Strengbom, and L. Ericson. 2006. Responses to ammonium and nitrate additions by boreal plants and their natural enemies. *Environmental Pollution* 141:167-174.
- Norvell, L. L., and S. A. Redhead. 1994. Valdensia heterodoxa (Sclerotiniaceae) in the United-States. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 24:1981-1983.
- Olsson, B. A., and O. Kellner. 2006. Long-term effects of nitrogen fertilization on ground vegetation in coniferous forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* 237:458-470.
- Palmqvist, K., and B. Sundberg. 2001. Characterizing photosynthesis and respiration in freshly isolated or cultured lichen photobionts. In: Kranner. I, Beckett. R, Varma. A (eds). *Protocols in lichenology- culturing, biochemistry, physiology and use in biomonitoring*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York. 152-181.
- Palmqvist, K., and L. Dahlman. 2006. Responses of the green algal foliose lichen *Platismatia glauca* to increased nitrogen supply. *New Phytologist* 171:343-356.
- Parker, G. G. 1983. Throughfall and stemflow in the forest nutrient cycle. Advances in Ecological Research 13:58-135.
- Paulissen, M. P. C. P., L. E. Besalu, H. De Bruijn, P. J. M. Van der Ven, and R. Bobbink. 2005. Contrasting effects of ammonium enrichment on fen bryophytes. *Journal of Bryology* 27:109-117.
- Pearce, I. S. K., S. J. Woodin, and R. van der Wal. 2003. Physiological and growth responses of the montane bryophyte *Rhacomitrium lanuginosum* to atmospheric nitrogen deposition. *New Phytologist* 160:145-155.
- Persson, J., and T. Näsholm. 2001. Amino acid uptake: a widespread ability among boreal forest plants. *Ecology Letters* 4:434-438.
- Persson, J., P. Högberg, A. Ekblad, M. N. Högberg, A. Nordgren, and T. Näsholm. 2003. Nitrogen acquisition from inorganic and organic sources by boreal forest plants in the field. *Oecologia* 137:252-257.
- Petrone, K., I. Buffam, and H. Laudon. 2007. Hydrologic and biotic control of nitrogen export during snowmelt: A combined conservative and reactive tracer approach. *Water Resources Research* 43: doi: 10.1029/2006WR005286.
- Phil-Karlsson., G, H. Blomgren, K. Petterson, A. Svensson, and K. Sjöberg. 2003. Nationell miljöövervakning av luft och nederbördskemi 2002. IVL Report U 852. Swedish Environmental Institute, Göteborg, Sweden.

- Pitcairn, C., D. Fowler, I. Leith, L. Sheppard, S. Tang, M. Sutton, and D. Famulari. 2006. Diagnostic indicators of elevated nitrogen deposition. *Environmental Pollution* 144:941-950.
- Quist, M. E., T. Näsholm, J. Lindeberg, C. Johannisson, L. Högbom, and P. Högberg. 1999. Responses of a nitrogen-saturated forest to a sharp decrease in nitrogen input. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 28:1970-1977.
- Raab, T. K., D. A. Lipson, and R. K. Monson. 1999. Soil amino acid utilization among species of the *Cyperaceae*: Plant and soil processes. *Ecology* 80:2408-2419.
- Reynolds, J. B. 1983. Technical note: the chemical composition of snow at rural upland site in mid Wales. *Atmospheric Environment* 17:1849-1851.
- Reynolds, H. L., A. Packer, J. D. Bever, and K. Clay. 2003. Grassroots Ecology: Plantmicrobe-soil interactions as drivers of plant community structure and dynamics. *Ecology* 84:2281-2291.
- Salemaa, M., R. Mäkipää, and J. Oksanen. 2008. Differences in the growth response of three bryophyte species to nitrogen. *Environmental Pollution* 152:82-91.
- Schimel, J. P., and J. Bennett. 2004. Nitrogen mineralization: Challenges of a changing paradigm. *Ecology* 85:591-602.
- Schmidt, I. K., S. Jonasson, G. R. Shaver, A. Michelsen, and A. Nordin. 2002. Mineralization and distribution of nutrients in plants and microbes in four arctic ecosystems: responses to warming. *Plant and Soil* 242:93-106.
- Simola, L. K. 1975. Effect of several protein amino-acids and some inorganic nitrogensources on growth of Sphagnum nemoreum. Physiologia Plantarum 35:194-199.
- Skogsstyrelsen, 2007. Skogsstatistisk årsbok. Skogsstyrelsen, Jönköping.
- Skrindo, A., and R. H. Økland. 2002. Effects of fertilization on understory vegetation in a Norwegian *Pinus sylvestris* forest. *Applied Vegetation Science* 5:167-172.
- SMHI, 2008. http://frodo.smhi.se/website/MATCH\_mo\_tdnt/main.htm. 08-04-02
- Strengbom, J., A. Nordin, T. Näsholm, and L. Ericson. 2001. Slow recovery of boreal forest ecosystem following decreased nitrogen input. *Functional Ecology* 15:451-457.
- Strengbom, J., A. Nordin, T. Näsholm, and L. Ericson. 2002. Parasitic fungus mediates change in nitrogen-exposed boreal forest vegetation. *Journal of Ecology* 90:61-67.
- Strengbom, J., M. Walheim, T. Näsholm, and L. Ericson. 2003. Regional differences in the occurrence of understory species reflect nitrogen deposition in Swedish forests. *Ambio* 32:91-97.
- Strengbom, J., J. Witzell, A. Nordin, and L. Ericson. 2005. Do multitrophic interactions override N fertilization effects on *Operophtera* larvae? *Oecologia* 143:241-250.
- Strengbom, J., G. Englund, and L. Ericson. 2006. Experimental scale and precipitation modify effects of nitrogen addition on a plant pathogen. *Journal of Ecology* 94:227-233.
- Strengbom, J., and A. Nordin. 2008. Commercial forest fertilization causes long-term residual effects in ground vegetation of boreal forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2008.08.009
- Swift, M. J., O.W. Heal, and J.M, Andersson. 1979. *Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems*. Blackwell scientific publications, Oxford.
- Taiz, L., and E. Ziegert. 1998. Plant Physiology 2 ed, Massachusetts.

- Tamm, C. O. 1953. Growth, yield and nutrition in carpets of a forest moss (*Hylocomium splendens*). Meddelande från statens skogsvårdsinstitut (Stockholm) 43:1-40.
- Tamm, C. O. 1991. Nitrogen in terrestrial ecosystems. *In Ecological studies*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Tilman, D. 1988. *Plant strategies and the structure and dynamics of plant communities*. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton.
- Van Cleve, K., and V. Alexander. 1979. Nitrogen cycling in tundra and boreal ecosystems. In: *Terrestrial nitrogen cycles* (eds. Clark, F. E, and Roswall, T.). *Ecological Bulletins* 33:375-404.
- Van der Wal, R., and R. W. Brooker. 2004. Mosses mediate grazer impacts on grass abundance in arctic ecosystems. *Functional Ecology* 18:77-86.
- Vidmar, J. J., D. Zhuo, M. Y. Siddiqi, J. K. Schjoerring, B. Touraine, and A. D. M. Glass. 2000. Regulation of high-affinity nitrate transporter genes and high-affinity nitrate influx by nitrogen pools in roots of barley. *Plant Physiology* 123:307-318.
- Virtanen, A. I., and Linkola. H. 1946. Organic nitrogen compounds as nitrogen nutrition for higher plants. *Nature* 157:515.
- Vitousek, P. M., J. D. Aber, R. W. Howarth, G. E. Likens, P. A. Matson, D. W. Schindler, W. H. Schlesinger, and D. G. Tilman. 1997. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. *Ecological Applications* 7:737-750.
- Vitousek, P. M., S. Hattenschwiler, L. Olander, and S. Allison. 2002. Nitrogen and nature. *Ambio* 31:97-101.
- White, T. C. S. 1993. *The inadequate environment. Nitrogen and the abundance of animals.* Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.
- Woolgrove, C. E., and S. J. Woodin. 1996. Ecophysiology of a snow-bed bryophyte *Kiaeria* starkei during snowmelt and uptake of nitrate from meltwater. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 74:1095-1103.